1979

Scott M. Matheson et al v. Weston E. Hamilton : Brief in Support of Complaint for Writ of Mandamus

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an original action in the Utah Supreme Court concerning the validity of certain bonds proposed to be issued by the Utah State Building Ownership Authority (the "Authority") to finance the acquisition and construction of office facilities for use and occupancy by state departments and agencies.

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Scott M. Matheson, as Governor of the State of Utah,
and Dan S. Bushnell, as Vice-Chairman of the Utah State Building

Ownership Authority, seek a Writ of Mandamus from the Supreme Court directing Weston E. Hamilton, as Chairman of the Authority, to execute the bonds in the form and manner as approved by a resolution of the Authority adopted June 15, 1979.

FACTS OF THE CASE

The 1979 General Session of the Utah Legislature determined that many state bodies were inadequately provided with necessary office space and related facilities, and that many state bodies were renting space in privately owned buildings with funds that could more efficiently and economically be used toward the acquisition and construction of facilities which would be owned by the state. In order to provide for a fully adequate supply of governmental office facilities at the lowest possible cost, the Legislature created the Authority and adopted the Utah State Building Ownership Act ("S.B. 238"). (Exhibit "A" attached to the Complaint).

S. B. 238 empowers the Authority to borrow money and issue its bonds to finance the acquisition and construction of governmental office facilities to be authorized by further acts of the Legislature. A further act of the 1979

General Session of the Utah Legislature authorized the Authority to issue bonds in an aggregate principal sum of not to exceed \$25,000,000 to pay for the acquisition and construction of a general office facility in Salt Lake City to meet the general office needs of state bodies, (Senate Bill 237, attached to the Complaint as Exhibit "B"). Another act of the 1979 General Session of the Utah Legislature authorized the Authority to issue bonds in an aggregate principal sum of not to exceed \$2,600,000 to pay for the acquisition and construction of an office building in Salt Lake City for the Utah Department of Agriculture (Senate Bill 321, attached to the Complaint as Exhibit "C"). All of the bonds authorized to be issued pursuant to S.B. 237 and S. B. 321 are to be issued under and in accordance with the provisions of S. B. 238.

The Acts provide that the bonds state on their face that they are limited obligations of the Authority to be paid solely from rental and lease payments received from the state bodies utilizing the facilities and that they shall not give rise to a general obligation or liability of, nor a charge against the Authority or the general credit or taxing powers of the State, or any of its political subdivisions. The Acts further provide that the bonds may be secured by a mortgage

or trust deed covering the facilities acquired or constructed with the proceeds of the bonds, provided that no deficiency judgment may be entered against the Authority, the State, or any of its political subdivisions on the foreclosure of any such mortgage or trust deed. Section 8 of S.B. 238 states that nothing in the Act can be construed as requiring the State or any state body or political subdivision to pay the bonds or interest thereon, or to pay rental for the facilities. This section further provides that nothing in the Act may be construed as requiring the Legislature to appropriate any funds to pay the bonds or the rentals. Should any state body fail to pay the rental for the facilities occupied by it, such body will vacate the portion of the facilities occupied by it, and its rental obligation will thereupon cease.

On June 15th, the Authority adopted bond resolutions authorizing the issuance of the bonds covered by the Acts. (Exhibits "D" and "E" attached to the Complaints.) In accordance with the provisions of S.B. 238, the resolutions provided that each bond contain on the face thereof the following statement:

This Bond, and the interest thereon are limited obligations of the Authority to be paid solely from the rentals and lease payments receivable by the Authority from the state bodies utilizing the facilities constructed or acquired with

the proceeds of the Bonds, and said Bonds and the interest thereon shall not constitute nor give rise to a general obligation or liability of, nor a charge against the Authority or general credit or taxing powers of the State of Utah or any of its political subdivisions. The Utah Legislature is not obligated to appropriate any money to pay any rentals for any part of the facilities occupied by a state body. No judgment may be entered against the State of Utah, nor against any state body for failure to pay such rentals. Should any state body fail to pay any such rentals, that body must immediately quit and vacate the portion of the facilities previously occupied by it and the rental obligation of such body shall thereupon cease. Each Bond of this issue is equally and ratably secured by an indenture and deed of trust (the "Indenture") encumbering the property acquired and constructed with the proceeds of such Bonds. The Indenture provides that no deficiency judgment upon foreclosure may be entered against the Authority, the State of Utah, or any of its political subdivisions, and that no breach of any agreement under the Indenture shall impose any general obligation or liability upon or a charge against the Authority or the general credit or taxing power of the State of Utah or any of its political subdivisions.

The form of the bonds adopted by the resolutions contain this statement.

The resolutions authorized and directed the Chairman of the Authority, defendant, Weston E. Hamilton, to execute the bonds on behalf of the Authority. The defendant

has advised the plaintiffs and the other members of the Authority that he will refuse to sign the bonds on the grounds that the proposed bonds are illegal.

POINT I. THE PROPOSED BONDS WHEN ISSUED, WILL NOT BE GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OR A CHARGE AGAINST THE GENERAL CREDIT AND TAXING POWER OF THE STATE CONTRARY TO LEGISLATIVE INTENT, NOR DOES THE FACT THAT THE BONDS ARE TO BE PAID FROM RENTALS RECEIVED FROM STATE BODIES FOR THE LEASE OF FACILITIES CREATE SUCH A GENERAL OBLIGATION.

Defendant's principal contention concerning the invalidity of the bonds is set forth in paragraphs 10A and B of the Complaint. It is based upon the fact that the source of funds for repayment of the bonds is the rental which is to be paid to the Authority by state bodies for office space in the facilities acquired with the proceeds of the bonds. His argument proceeds somewhat as follows:

The Legislature declared that the bonds must not be general obligation bonds and must not constitute a charge against the general credit or taxing power of the state or any of its political subdivisions. The only source of revenues for payment of the bonds are the rentals to be paid by state bodies for office space rented to such bodies by the Authority.

Thus, if any revenues are ever going to be obtained to make payment on the bonds, such revenues (the rentals) must be appropriated by the Legislature, and the Legislature must levy a sufficient tax to pay such appropriation. Accordingly, the bonds will, in actuality, be general obligation bonds and a charge against the taxing power of the State contrary to the express intent of the Legislature. The statement in the bonds to the effect that the bonds will be paid only from rentals of the facilities is false because the rentals can only be obtained from Legislative appropriation and taxation.

The foregoing argument of defendant is faulty for one principal reason. There can be no general obligation of a state unless a state undertakes to pay, or guarantees such payment, from its general funds. There can be no charge against the general credit or taxing power of a state unless the state obligates itself to supply the funds to pay the obligation, or obligates itself to levy taxes to pay the obligation. If, as is the case here, a state could not legally be called upon to pay the bonds, or to supply funds from which the bonds would be paid, or to levy a tax for the purpose of paying the bonds, there is no general obligation and no charge against the state's credit or taxing power.

The question as to what constitutes a general obligation of a state or a charge against its general credit or taxing power was discussed by the Utah Supreme Court in the case of Spence v. Utah State Agricultural College, 225 P.2d 18, (Utah, 1950). That case involved the issuance by the college of revenue bonds to finance the construction of a student union building to be repaid solely from the rental and income to be derived from the operation of the building. There, as in the instant case, the bonds stated on their face that they would not give rise to an obligation of the state or the college. In the course of the opinion, the Court stated:

Here, we have a bona fide attempt by the legislature to free the state from liability for repaying the bonds. This act provides the indebtedness shall not be a debt of the state, the Utah State Agricultural College, or the Board of Trustees. The resolution authorizing the issuance of the bonds has the same provisions. The bonds which will be sold to the public show on their face that they shall not become an obligation of the state, the college, or the board; that money necessary for repayment cannot be obtained from sources other than from the revenue and income derived from the operation of the student union building and the student fees paid by students of the college; and that the income and revenue from such sources is all that is pledged to payment of the principal and interest of the bonds. There is no requirement that the state contribute any funds to the project; that it be required to

guarantee the payment of the loan in the event the revenues are insufficient; or that any purchaser of the bonds can in any way hold the state liable for repayment of the sum realized from the sale of the bonds. Furthermore, there is no guarantee on the part of the state that the sources of revenue will be sufficient to meet the bonded indebtedness and that if the funds are insufficient the state will in any way help to make up the deficit.

* * *

The legislative act expressly provides the bonds shall not be or become an obligation of the state and this stipulation is carried on the face of the bond. We are unable to see how the State of Utah could ever be called upon to pay these bonds or the interest thereon or be under any obligation to levy any tax for the purpose of paying any loss that might result to the bondholders. Under the terms of the act, the resolutions and the bonds, no bondholder could legally contend that the state, the college, or the board was obligated to pay the indebtedness represented by the bond.

No "debt" within the meaning of constitutional limitations is created where the statute in question, the bond resolution and the form of the bond all provide that the credit of the governmental entity cannot be looked to for the repayment of the bonds. This was the holding of the Utah Supreme Court in the case of Tribe v. Salt Lake City, 540 P.2d 499 (1975). The Tribe case upheld the validity of bonds to be issued by the Salt Lake Redevelopment Agency for the purpose of constructing a parking facility. The bonds

were to be repaid solely from parking rentals and from incremental property taxes which would result from the increased tax assessment occurring as the result of the improvements constructed with the bond proceeds. The Court held:

The Act specifically provides that the bonds and other obligations of the agency are not a debt or obligation of the community (which is defined in the Act as a city, county or combination of the two), the state, or any of its political subdivisions. In addition, the enabling statute, the proposed bond resolution, the proposed bond form, and the city ordinance of ratification all prohibit the use of credit of the city for the repayment of the bonded indebtedness. The bondholders can look only to revenues from the operation of the facility and the allocated taxes, for retirement of the bond obligation. Under the subject statute, providing for this arrangement, there can be no city debt created contrary to Article XIV, Sections 3 and 4; nor can there be a lending of the city's credit in contravention of Article VI, Section 29.

In the case of the proposed Building Ownership Authority bonds now before this Court, the Legislature declared in the Acts that the bonds would not give rise to a general obligation or liability of, nor a charge against the general credit or taxing power of the State or any of its political subdivisions. This declaration was contained in the June 15 Resolutions of the Authority. The bonds to be issued by the Authority contain this statement on their face. Under these

facts and the holdings of this Court in the cases of Spence v. Utah State Agricultural College and Tribe v. Salt Lake City, supra, the proposed bonds cannot be general obligations of the state or a charge against its taxing powers.

The defendant contends that foregoing holdings are not applicable to the instant case because in this case the only source of funds to pay the bonds are the rentals to be paid to the Authority by state bodies. The only way such state bodies can obtain funds to pay such rentals is by the Legislature appropriating funds to such state bodies to pay them, and the Legislature must then levy a sufficient tax to fund the appropriation. He argues that this makes the bonds, in effect, general obligations of the State payable from the State's general taxing power contrary to the express intent of the Legislature.

The defendant's contention might have some merit if the state bodies were required to enter into leases which would obligate them to pay rentals over an extended period in order to retire the bonds. His argument might also have merit if the Legislature in any manner obligated itself to make appropriations in the future to pay the bonds or the rentals. Such are not the facts in this case, however.

Senate Bill 238 specifically provides that neither the State, nor any state body is required by the Act to pay any bond or any interest thereon or any rental under the terms of any lease. That bill further provides that nothing in the Act shall be construed as requiring the Legislature to appropriate any money to pay any bond or any interest thereon or any rentals. It further provides that should any state body fail to pay its rental for the facilities, that body shall immediately quit and vacate the facilities and the rental obligation of such body will thereupon cease. These declarations were contained in the June 15 Resolutions of the Authority and are stated on the face of the proposed bonds. Thus, the Act, the resolutions and the bonds themselves specifically state that there is no undertaking on the part of the state or any state body or the Legislature that rentals will be provided in order to furnish revenues to pay the bonds.

This distinction appeared to be a matter of prime importance to the Utah Supreme Court in the case of Spence v. Utah Agricultural College, supra. The Court stated that, "there is no guarantee on the part of the state that the source of revenue will be sufficient to meet the bonded

indebtedness and that if the funds are insufficient, the state will in any way help to make up the deficit." The Court then went on to hold that under the Act, the resolution and the bonds, the State could not be legally called upon to pay the bonds or be under any obligation to levy a tax for the purpose of paying them.

Senate Bill 238 does provide that the governor may request the Legislature to appropriate funds for the payment of rentals. That bill also specifically provides that nothing in the Act may be construed as requiring the Legislature to appropriate any funds to pay such rentals. Where legislation permits but does not require future appropriations to pay state agency bonds, no general obligation of the state is created. This was the holding of the Utah Supreme Court in the case of Utah Housing Finance Agency v. Smart, 561 P.2d 1052 (1977) where the Court stated:

If the legislation requires future appropriations to defray the obligations of the Agency it would be invalid as lending the state's credit, but where, as here, it merely allows future appropriations without requiring such, it creates no binding obligation upon the state and therefore does not result in a debt of the state or the lending of the state's credit.

Neither the state, nor any state body, nor any political subdivision is required to pay any bond issued pursuant to the Acts. The bonds are to be paid out of the rentals or lease payments which are received by the Authority from state bodies for facilities acquired or constructed with the proceeds of the bonds. However, neither the state, nor any state body, nor any political subdivision is required to pay any rental. Should a state body fail to pay its rental, its only duty is to quit the leased facilities, whereupon its obligations under the lease shall terminate. The legislature is not required to appropriate any funds to pay any bond, or any interest thereon, or any rentals.

All of the foregoing provisions are contained in S.B. 238, are contained in the June 15 resolutions of the Authority, and are set forth on the face of the bonds. The Utah Supreme Court decisions are clear that where, as here, there is no requirement that the state or any state body pay the bonds or the rentals, or that the legislature appropriate any monies for their payment, there is no charge against the state's taxing power and no general obligation is created.

While the Utah Supreme Court decisions would appear to be dispositive of the question, it may be helpful to the

Court to consider state building ownership authority situations which have arisen in other jurisdictions.

While the Building Ownership Act is new in the state of Utah, it has existed in various forms in other jurisdictions for up to 25 years. The purpose of these acts is to provide a vehicle whereby a state can acquire office buildings and facilities to house departments and agencies of state government and thereby avoid the necessity of having to appropriate monies every year to pay rental to house these departments and agencies in privately owned buildings. The acts vary from state to state with respect to the powers given to the authority, the obligations placed upon state bodies to pay rentals, the form and content of the bonds to be issued and other matters. The basic format of the acts appears uniform, however. An agency or authority with bonding power is created by the legislature. This authority is authorized to issue and sell bonds to obtain money to finance the acquisition and construction of state office buildings. Space in the buildings is then leased or rented to state departments and agencies by the authority. The total amount of rentals to be paid to the authority by the state departments and agencies is designed to be in an amount sufficient to pay the principal and interest on the bonds as they come due. The rental

so received is pledged by the authority to payment of the bonds.

The question as to whether the bonds issued by a building ownership authority are general obligation bonds of a state and are, therefore, violative of constitutional debt limitations has been before the courts of other jurisdictions on several occasions. A split of authority has developed as to whether such bonds constitute general obligations of the state and a charge against its taxing power. A number of cases have held that such bonds do not constitute general obligations and have upheld the validity of the bonds against constitutional attack. E.g. Book v. State Office Building Commission, 149 N.E.2d 273 (Ind. 1958); In Re Request for Advisory Opinion Enrolled Senate Bill 558, 254 N.W.2d 554, 400 Mich. 311 (1977); Opinion To The Governor, 308 Atl.2d 802 (R.I. 1973); Application of Oklahoma Capitol Improvement Authority, 410 P.2d 46 (Okla. 1966); Application of the Oklahoma Capitol Improvement Authority, 355 P.2d 1028, (Okla. 1960). Various reasons have been given by the courts for such holdings based upon the particular statutory provisions and the constitutional limitations in question.

The case of In re Request for Advisory Opinion, supra, involved the Michigan Building Ownership Act which

sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

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