1979

Scott M. Matheson et al v. Weston E. Hamilton : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

FACTS

Defendant accepts the facts as set forth in plaintiffs' Brief, with a few additional facts added.

SB 238, creating the State Building Ownership Authority (hereinafter Authority), expressly requires the Authority to lease the facilities to be built with the bond issue to only State bodies defined as the State of Utah and any department, board, commission or agency thereof, except universities or colleges. The Authority cannot lease to any other entity whatsoever. SB 238, Section 7. The interest and principal of the bonds must be payable solely out of the rentals or lease payments received by the Authority from the State bodies. SB 238, Section 8. The Authority is mandatorily required to secure said bond issue by "a pledge and assignment of the revenues out of which that obligation shall be made payable." SB 238, Section 9 (1)(a). Nothing in any of the acts requires the Authority to give the bondholders a mortgage or a priority lien position, but the Authority may do so if it deems it advantageous. Section 15 of SB 238 provides that all property acquired or held by the Authority is declared to be "public property used for essential, public and governmental purposes and shall be exempt from taxation."

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PROPOSED BOND ISSUE AND FINANCING SCHEME CONTEMPLATED BY ALL THREE SENATE BILLS ARE IN VIOLATION OF THE UTAH

CONSTITUTION.

Article XIII, Section 2 of the Utah Constitution, generally prohibits the Legislature from incurring any debt unless it has provided for levying a tax annually sufficient to pay the annual interest and principal of such debt. Article XIII, Section 9 of the Utah Constitution, likewise provides that no appropriation can be made or any expenditure authorized by the Legislature, whereby the expenditure during any fiscal year would exceed the total tax then provided for by law. Article XIV, Section 1, provides that the Legislature may not incur any debt exceeding in the aggregate at any one time an amount equal to $1\frac{1}{2}$ percent of the value of the taxable property of the State. There is no dispute that the Legislature, when adopting Senate Bills 237, 238, and 321, did not levy a tax sufficient to pay for the debt contemplated by said acts, and that said debt would exceed the available revenue in the current year.

It is defendant's contention that the financing scheme set forth in Senate Bill 238, which authorizes a State Building Ownership Authority to: (1) issue bonds; (2) construct a facility which is held for essential public and governmental purposes; (3) lease to State agencies and State agencies only; (4) repay the bond proceeds from the lease rentals; and (5) generally acquire the building for the government of the State of Utah, is unconstitutional. It is an attempt by the Legislature of the State of Utah to do indirectly what it could not do directly,

as such would be a violation of the above-cited constitutional provisions. Defendant submits that a close examination of the proposed financing scheme will disclose when the substance is viewed rather than the form, that, in fact, a debt of the State of Utah has been created. Defendant also submits that the proposed lease agreements with State agencies are not lease agreements but rather cleverly disguised contracts for the purchase of buildings where the Legislature of the State of Utah is the ultimate guarantor and purchaser of said building. Defendant also submits that the Building Authority is really an instrumentality of the State and, as such, pledges the credit of the State of Utah, notwithstanding the express disclaimers by the Legislature in the statute that it is not creating a debt of the State of Utah.

Defendant submits herewith the analysis of six cases from other jurisdictions which deals with the same fact situation and statutory financing schemes as found in the present case. In every one of the six cases cited, the statutes carried express and mandatory disclaimers to the effect that: (1) a State debt was not created; (2) the bondholders could not look to the general taxing power of the State to repay the leases; and (3) nothing could be construed by a court to find that a debt of the State had been created. In all of the cases cited, that legislative disclaimer was required to be placed on the face of the bonds. In all of the cases cited, for various reasons, the courts found

said financing schemes to be in violation of their respective State constitutions which generally prohibited incurring debt in excess of percentage taxable property limitations or incurring debt without having first submitted the matter to a vote of the people.

In the case of State ex rel. Nevada Building Authority v. Hancock, 468 P.2d 333 (Nevada 1970), the Supreme Court of Nevada held that a statutory financing scheme which would be used to pay rent on buildings constructed by an independent Authority solely from legislative appropriations was unconstitutional. The express legislative disclaimer that it was not creating a general obligation of the State of Nevada is referred to in the Court's opinion at page 335. The Court held that the creation of a separate body corporate does not alter the essence of the financing scheme, and the Building Authority was part of government since it is managed by public officials and its income depended on governmental appropriations for rent. The Court noted:

"Section 8 provides, however, that rentals payable from a State agency may be derived from legislative appropriations made in each biennium or the legislature may pledge itself to make future appropriations for rent, either in full or to the extent not defrayed by revenues. These provisions are the essence of the financing scheme. The permissive word 'may', used with regard to legislative appropriations for rent cannot serve to disguise the basic character of the scheme. Without question, the legislature will appropriate the needed funds. If it did not do so, the contemplated public construction for State agency use could not proceed." At page 336.

The Nevada Supreme Court concluded that the Legislature would make the appropriations, notwithstanding the express legislative disclaimer set

set forth in the statute. .The Court stated:

"... Within the context of the public building program involved, however, it is our view that successive biennial appropriations for rent until the bonds issued by the Authority are fully retired must be considered in the same light as a legislative pledge to make future appropriations for the purpose. It is inconceivable that the legislature would default in either instance since the good faith of Nevada would not allow it... ." At page 338.

The Nevada Supreme Court also examined the "special fund" exception. This exception generally provides that revenue bonds may be issued not subject to State constitutional debt limitations if they are to be repaid from proceeds from the use of the facility constructed. This defendant submits that the special fund doctrine is not applicable when the revenues from the use of the facility do not come from nongovernmental sources, usually from private or commercial use of the facilities. This distinguishes the present case from the cases of Spence v. Utah State Agriculture College, 225 P.2d 18 (Utah 1950), and Tribe v. Salt Lake City, 540 P.2d 499 (1975), cited by plaintiffs' in their Brief as each of those cases contemplated the receipt of revenue from the general public which would offset the cost of operating and constructing the facility and repay the bond proceeds. The Nevada Supreme Court stated:

"... To the extent that such revenues are derived from a nongovernmental source, or from rentals paid by a State agency which in turn derives rent paying income from user fees, a State public debt within the meaning of the Constitution is not created... . In such a case the nongovernmental user is the debtor rather than the State." At page 337. (Citations omitted.)

In the case of State of Washington v. Yelle, 289 P.2d 355 (Washington 1955), the Washington Supreme Court held unconstitutional a statute setting up a State Building Financing Authority, as such would in effect create an installment purchase by the State of certain buildings with State money raised by taxation in excess of the constitutional debt limitation. The Court held the scheme unconstitutional. The express legislative disclaimer found in the statute authorizing the bond issue and reciting that it did not create a general obligation of the State is referred to in the opinion at page 356. The Washington Supreme Court concluded that the proposed lease arrangement was, in substance, really a purchase agreement by the State through a State instrumentality of certain buildings to get around the debt limitations in the Constitution. The Court concluded that the Building Authority did not deal at arms' length with the various State agencies; that it was statutorily required to lease to only State agencies, and the relationship was not that of an ordinary landlord and tenant. The Court examined the "special fund" doctrine and concluded that it was inevitable that to pay off the rentals, "a resort to the general taxation was necessary." The Court stated:

"We recognize the housing problem with which the State is confronted. Nevertheless, we cannot permit the exigency of the situation to override the constitutional safeguard against improvidence and the integrity of the State's economy. We cannot resort to dexterity of judicial thinking in order to assist the

State in its problem. We cannot close our eyes to what is actually being attempted. When we strip the plan down to fundamentals, we find that it is not a leasing arrangement between landlord and tenant, but the installment purchase by the State of certain buildings and facilities with State moneys raised by taxation far in excess of the constitutional limitation." At pages 361, 362.

Defendant submits that the proposed bond issue in the present case is also, in substance, a purchase agreement by the State of Utah of certain buildings which are declared to be for "public and governmental purposes" and exempt from taxation. At the conclusion of the repayment of the bonds, the buildings will revert to the State of Utah for public use. Therefore, the Legislature has done indirectly what it could not do directly--that is, create a debt in excess of available funds in the current year to purchase a building. They have also bound future Legislatures to appropriate the funds because the holders of the bonds must look to the Legislature for payment of the lease and rentals and cannot look to anyone else. The Utah statute does not even require granting the bondholders a mortgage or lien interest in the building, although under the facts in the present case, the Authority has do so by resolution.

The above-cited Yelle case drew heavily on McCutcheon v. State Building Authority, 13 N.J. 46, 97 A.2d 663 (1953), wherein the Supreme Court of the State of New Jersey held a statute creating a Building Ownership Authority violated constitutional provisions prescribing debt limitation when required to lease solely to State agencies and to repay bond

proceeds from lease rentals. The express legislative disclaimer that it was not creating a debt or obligation of the State, or pledging its faith and credit, is referred to in the opinion at 97 A.2d 663, 666. The Court stated:

"... While in form a way of providing the State with leasehold interests in building facilities for public use, in reality the design of the act is to enable the State by contracts of purchase to acquire for State use buildings possessed and constructed by the Authority by means of bond issues sustained by the State's promise to supply in the guise of rentals sufficient money to liquidate the bonds, available only through the medium of annual appropriations. And this in disregard of the constitutional debt limitation and the restraints laid by the organic law upon the appropriation process... . The legislation proceeds upon the hypothesis that the fulfillment of the project will not burden the State with a debt or liability within the constitutional sense. But in this the accent is on the external appearance rather than the substance. The label is unimportant; it is not the form but the essence that controls. It is an obvious truism that constitutional limitations may not be set at naught by indirection." At page 668.

The Court also noted in very strong language at page 666 that the proposed lease agreement was, in substance and effect, a purchase agreement of the property, and the Authority could not function were it not for the appropriation from the Legislature. This parallels the Utah statute exactly. The Court noted:

"... The Authority may 'lease' only to State departments, agencies, and instrumentalities and at a 'rental' determined by this standard. These are not leases as in the case of the Prentice Company, but contracts of purchase by the sovereign for public use; the 'rentals' constitute appropriations made by the State, not alone to provide operating expenses, but in quantum sufficient for the ultimate payment

and retirement of the bonds. A true lease rental is compensation for the use of the property, not the consideration price for its purchase." At page 669.

The significance of the New Jersey Supreme Court decision is not so much in its conclusion that the leasing device is really an installment purchase by the State or a lease agreement by the State with itself (at page 671), but in the following express language:

"The constitutional debt-limitation provision is not limited in quality and scope to debts enforceable by action. It has in view the temptation or inducement and incentive to make appropriations for 'debts' beyond the prescribed amount, unless approved by the people in the manner ordained. Moral and ethical compulsions are not to be allowed to override the constitutional safeguard against improvidence and the integrity of the State's economy." At page 671.

The Court also concluded by noting that one Legislature cannot bind a succeeding Legislature with the duty of making appropriations, as well as severely criticizing the Building Authority for attempting to discover a legal way to illegally evade the constitutional requirements. At page 673.

Defendant submits that under the above-cited case, wherein the New Jersey Supreme Court found that it was not necessary to have a "legally enforceable debt" in order to violate the spirit of their constitutional provisions on debt limitations, that the Utah Legislature has, in fact, lent the full faith of the State of Utah upon which the bondholders will surely rely to guaranty that sufficient funds will be appropriated in each session of the Legislature until the proposed 25 million dollars in

bonds are fully retired. In this regard, a debt has been created in violation of the spirit of the constitutional prohibitions on debt limitations.

In the case of State Office Bldg. Commission v. Trujillo, 46 N.M. 29, 120 P.2d 434 (1942), the Supreme Court of New Mexico held unconstitutional a Building Ownership Commission which would incur a debt to be repaid entirely from agencies utilizing the facilities. The express legislative disclaimer that a general obligation debt of the State of New Mexico was not created is referred to in the opinion at page 438. The New Mexico Supreme Court discussed in depth the development of the "special fund" doctrine within the State of New Mexico and concluded that it had no application because the "special fund" doctrine expressly requires that the monies be derived from sources other than general taxation, such as private and commercial users of the facility. The Court also, in reviewing the application of the "special fund" doctrine, noted the following regarding constitutional "debt":

"'Speaking of the term 'debt' as used in article 9, Section 12, of the State Constitution, in *Seward v. Bowers* (37 N.M. 385, 24 P.2d 253), we said: 'The idea of a 'debt' in the constitutional sense is that an obligation has arisen out of contract, express or implied, which entitles the creditor unconditionally to receive from the debtor a sum of money, which the debtor is under a legal, equitable, or moral duty to pay without regard to any future contingency.'" At page 442.

The New Mexico Supreme Court concluded that it was inevitable that to pay off the rentals, a resort to general taxation is necessary, and, therefore, the special fund doctrine could not obtain. The Court stated:

"... And, in the case of enterprises authorized by the Legislature to be embarked upon through State agencies, a particular scheme of financing will be held to be valid only where it is clearly demonstrable from the specific terms of the financing proposal itself that no tax burden or pecuniary liability of the State to appropriate or pay for the indebtedness about to be incurred will ever arise, or be looked to as security, in whole or in part, for repayment of the borrowed moneys.'" At page 445.

The New Mexico Supreme Court also dealt specifically with the express legislative disclaimer that it was not creating a debt of the State of New Mexico by stating:

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